THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM LEXINGTON COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas  
R. Lawton McIntosh, Circuit Court Judge

**RECEIVED**

JUL 14 2016

Case No.: 2011-CP-32-01010  
Appellate Case No.: 2013-002056

**S.C. SUPREME COURT**

Glenda Renee Couram

Appellant,

v

## PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Appellant Glenda Couram, Petitioner below, will be referred to in this Initial Brief as “Plaintiff” or Appellant.

Steven Fair, Donald “Don” Rawls and Cox and Dinkins will be referred to as Respondents, Defendants, Fair, Rawls or Cox and Dinkins.

Carl Reibold or Christopher Hooker will be referred to as “Reibold or Reibolds” Hooker or Hookers “Neighbors” “the Neighbors” or Respondents.

Carolina Water Service will be referred to as Carolina Water Service or (CWS).

Lexington County Register of Deeds Office (ROD).

For purposes of this brief, the following abbreviations have the following meanings: (T = Trial Transcript; Record on Appeal = R or ROA, Page = p or pp and L = Lines).

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE/FACTS

### JURISDICTION

Throughout this Initial Brief, the Appellant shall be referred to as “Appellant” “Plaintiff” or Couram,” “The Respondents shall be referred to as “Respondents,” “Defendants” or “Neighbors.”

Glenda Couram brought suit against the “Neighbors” – Hookers and Reibold’s J. Donald “Don” Rawls in his official and personal capacity, Steven Fair in his official and personal capacity and Cox and Dinkins in suit for intentional and continuous civil/criminal trespass, and nuisance, civil conspiracy, intentional infliction of emotional distress, slander of title, invasion of privacy, etc., in violation of her constitutional rights.

After a protracted procedural history and the Appellant’s testimony the court granted directed verdict on all causes of action against Cox and Dinkins, Steven Fair and Donald “Don” Rawls and ultimately granted Directed Verdict in favor of the “Neighbors” except for the charge of Trespass which was allowed to go before the jury; the “Neighbors” were find not guilty by the jury of trespass. The Verdict and Order were filed by the court on or about July 11 and 12<sup>th</sup>, 2013, respectfully; (R. pp. 25-28).

Appellant filed a Motion to Reconsider which was denied by the Judge McIntosh on or about August 2<sup>nd</sup>, 2013. (R. pp. 29-30)

Appellant filed Notice of Appeal and served each Respondent on or about September 7<sup>th</sup>, 2013. Thus this court has Jurisdiction. (R. pp. 173-175)

### BACKGROUND

This action arose when “the Neighbors” claimed ownership and made a hostile grab for approximately 20 feet of land running with the Appellant’s property based on a commissioned

survey ordered by Steven Fair of Fair Builders/Developers and drawn up by Cox and Dinkins and Donald "Don" Rawls who had the survey signed and filed with the Lexington County Register of Deeds Office in 2004, December 2010. (R. pp. 670-73)

In or about April 1994, the Appellant purchased house and land in Wrenwood Subdivision Phase IV the last house. The house was adjacent to a "neighborhood park" it was on land donated or given to the neighborhood by Hendricks Builders. The seller, Hendricks, told the Appellant the neighborhood park (identified on Wrenwood survey/plat November 16, 1990 (R. p 677) would never be sold or developed a selling point for the Appellant. Draft Surveying was commissioned to perform the survey for the Appellant which he did and had it recorded in the ROD's office of Lexington County. (R. pp. 667, 669, 664 and 678; Appellant's closing Attorney letter (R. p. 193)

Appellant was obligated to being a subservient owner to the dominant owner Carolina CWS<sup>2</sup> non-exclusive appurtenant easement running with her land. The purpose was to allow access to a landlocked parcel located in the left back corner of her property adjacent to the "park" and natural fence.<sup>3</sup> The deed was created in or about 1985 at the bequest of a common owner August Kohn (See Exhibit Deed Book 725 Page 4-6). (R. p. 205)

Plaintiff and the Association co-existed peacefully with clear boundary lines and *acquiescence*, as to property lines. There were never any issues with the kids using the park, no stories of snakes or any other life threatening wild animals, no loud music or noise. Appellant never saw any snakes when cleaning, mowing or going into the natural fence to remove trash or

---

<sup>2</sup> An additional 5 feet was at risk due to the Restrictive Covenant requirements (See document dated Bk 1968 pg 176-8)

<sup>3</sup> Appellant had exclusive ownership of the back parcel from the day she purchased the house and land. CWS came out once to cut the grass a few months after she purchased and never returned and then came out in or about 2000 a to tear down the well-house because it became an attractive nuisance a child set it on fire. From that date on the Appellant had the land exclusively and the easement was not longer of use and reverted back to according to the lands of this state

any other dangerous animals during the years prior to the development of the "park" that Reibold testified to (R. pp. 300-320).

Sometime in 2004, the County of Lexington sold the park for back taxes it went through several hands before landing in the hands of the person who sold the land to Steve Fair for Five thousand dollars (\$5,000). For some reason the Association failed to pay the taxes which totaled appropriately \$68.00 (see documents of sale). The property was ultimately sold to Steven Fair of Fair Developers, who developed the land in 2004. (The County never notified the neighborhood that the park was being sold or the Appellant who was directly impacted by the sale). (R. pp. 199-204)

During the construction of the Park and Phase V - Fair Developers in 2004 destroyed plants and shrubs on the Plaintiff's property and via letters he promised to replace the shrubs instead he merely put up a black tarp and refused to replace the shrubs. Plaintiff took Fair to Court for damages, she lost - the Magistrate would not allow the Plaintiff to supply the jury with dates the pictures of damage was taken even through it was made known to the court the damages took place in 2004.<sup>4</sup> This matter ended in Magistrate court in late 2005 in favor of Fair and Fair Developers for damages to the Appellant's land).

Also, as a direct result of the sale to Fair the Appellant also had to file suit against Time Warner Cable who laid claim to the right side of her property after they trespassed and placed a pedestal for the neighbor to have cable access after they were told by the Appellant they could not be on the property or place any objects on it. This suit ended Appellant believes in early

---

<sup>4</sup> During this same time TWC asked the plaintiff to allow them to place a cable box on her property for the neighbors to her right she denied the request and arrived home one day to learn they put the box on the property anyway, they refused to move the box and plaintiff took them to court and lost but the cable box was removed and she closed up the opening

2008; Appellant did not win as to monetary compensation but she regained possession of her land removal of the pedestal. (R. pp. 215 and 648)

In 2005/6, while working in her yard Reibold stood watching the Appellant, he was on the phone and within minutes Steven Fair showed up and they stood watching the Appellant. (R. p. Appellant called the police there were no more issues with Reibold until December 2010 when he was seen cutting down the natural fence and trespassing on the Appellants property to do so. (R. p.

In or about 2006/2007, there were issues with Hooker trespassing when he would cut grass beyond his property line, Appellant had to remind the Respondent he was over the property line whenever she saw him. Hooker as he testified to (R. pp. 246-248) would spray pesticides and when confronted he stopped but nothing will grow after that to this day in that section except weeds. (Appellant does not recall this incident but Hooker claims I saw this.)

There were no other issues after this until December 2010, exactly three years later the "Neighbors" came as a one to grab Appellant's land (See Counterclaims) which resulted in this lawsuit. After the "Neighbor" told the Appellant the only way they will stop is for her to "sue them". (The "Neighbors" filed a counterclaim alleging Laches and accusing Appellant of abuse towards their children and grandchildren – Appellant prior to this action has never seen any children of the "Neighbors".

Upon research and a need to know why the "Neighbors" would not stop the harassment, invasion of her privacy and attempt to take Appellant's land, etc., the Appellant went to the Register of Deeds Office to have them teach her to read her survey and plat and figure out what was happening and why these people was making a claim to her land. There she learned of the

Respondents Cox and Dinkins<sup>5</sup> along with Steven Fair survey and plat for Phase V and how that survey included approximately 20 feet of her land as a part of the land sold to Steve Fair in 2004. (See plats). (She could not understand why since 2004, she would constantly have to tell these people to stay off her property).

The defendants Reibold and Hooker after plaintiff filed her complaint filed a counter claim, alleging the Appellant had set on her rights for 3 years and the "Neighbors" had a claim to the land based on their survey and that included a motion of declaratory judgment.<sup>6 7</sup> They also alleged the Appellant went after their children and grandchildren.

The first complaint dated on or about December 30, 2010, was dismissed Judge Keesley because the Appellant was allowed to file indigent by the Court.<sup>8</sup> When the Appellant refiled Judge Keesley recused himself due to conflict of interest when the Plaintiff refiled on or about March 2011, to include the firm of Cox and Dinkins and Steven Fair after a meeting with Donald Rawls who signed the Survey/plat. That meeting took place in or around May 2011. (Letter Exhibit of Meeting sent to Rawls).

Prior to an Order by Judge McMahon the Appellant filed an amended complaint dropping all negligence charges against the Respondents. Without ruling on this Amended complaint Judge McMahon entered an Order dated January 31, 2012, dismissing Appellant's Complaint stating it was based on professional negligence. (R. p. 8). Appellant informed the Court that she had dropped all negligence claims and another Order was written dated April 13, 2012 granting Appellant's Motion to Amend and denying Appellant's Motion for Default against Cox and

---

<sup>5</sup> Appellant called and met with Donald Rawls who explained their survey (See letter dated May 11, 2011)

<sup>6</sup> They included a cause of action accusing the plaintiff of child abuse. Plaintiff asked Hooker about this and the trial Judge became upset and accused stated the frivolous claim action to the Plaintiff Brown the Attorney showed the Judge in his cross complaint the allegations. The plaintiff in this Motion for Reconsideration, new trial, etc., ask the court for a ruling on the cross complaint.

<sup>7</sup> Appellant initially filed this lawsuit on or about January 2011, the matter went before Judge Keesley. She was allowed to file indigent - Judge Keesley denied the filing March 1<sup>st</sup> 2011, (See Order and also see Order dated

<sup>8</sup> Cox and Dinkins, Fair, Fair Developers and J. Donald Rawls were not named until the March 2011 complaint.

Dinkins, Rawls and the "Neighbors" who never responded to the Amended Complaint. (Note: during this hearing the Respondents raised no objection and agreed to the Amended Complaint with Brown asking for 30 days to respond – except Fair who never showed or answered the Amended Complaint). (R. p. 65) and (R. p. 108 – the "Neighbors" Counterclaim)

Judge McMahon, on April 20, 2012, granted the "Neighbors" request for a court ordered survey however they never complied with the order, if they did they did not inform the Appellant as Ordered by the court. The Court during the trial asked why the non-compliance and Attorney Brown who represented the "Neighbors" stated they contacted two surveyors who would not do the survey for fear of being sued. They were not surveying the Appellant's property so there was no risk of a suit unless Attorney Brown was going to sue them. (R. p 14)

After this the Appellant was never before the same Judge twice.

After the matter was scheduled for Trial CWS decided to finally respond to the Complaint and Default Motions filed against them; this was handed first by a Judge McDonald she told CWS to file a motion for summary judgment against the Appellant.

On March 7, 2013 by Order of Judge Birch Carolina Water Service (CWS)<sup>9</sup> deeded over (vested) to the plaintiff the square parcel of land given to them by Lexington County for the well site. CWS released all rights to the easement running with the Appellants land.

And, under the same Order of Judge Birch he denied Plaintiff's request for Default Judge against Steve Fair who to the date of that Order never responded to the Motions, Complaints, etc., filed by Appellant the only time he responded was to the initial complaint that was dismissed by Judge Keesley where he state "I deny all allegations. I have already been to court

---

<sup>9</sup> On or about October 31, 2012, when CWS finally decided to answer the complaint the first visiting judge mcdonald (not sure of name) told the attorney to file a motion for summary judgment which they did and it was granted by Judge Birch another visiting judge. (Order March 7, 2013)

all of these allegations, and the jury found in my favor. The case was heard by the Oak Grove Magistrate in or about 2005.

(The Judge denied the plaintiff the right to explain her knowledge stating she was not an expert – this was not a claim for negligence but for trespass, slander of title, civil conspiracy, nuisance, invasion of privacy, etc.)

### **THE TRIAL**

(“Neighbor” Reibold’s lot is the smallest of the four lots on the Cox and Dinkins Survey and the property line runs with lots C and D. The contractual survey he has with Fair and Cox and Dinkins appear to show that his lot does not extend beyond the Oak tree).

Reibold also testified that in the letters dated December 6 and 8<sup>th</sup> the Appellant used the words “black” and “stupid” there is no such words in the letters sent to either of the defendants. (Letters Dated Exhibits \_\_\_\_\_ December 6 and 8, 2010). The court denied plaintiff’s request to submit the letters into evidence. (Attachment three letters – addressed to Reibold and To Whom It May Concern – Plaintiff did not know the name of the defendants until her meeting with ROD and Police Reports).

Hooker testified he was never on the plaintiff’s property in fact she was on his because when he pointed this out to her she “skedaddle” back over to her side of the property line. The plaintiff has never been on the “Neighbors” property. Testimony that is in direct contradiction to the police report submitted as evidence.

Hooker testified that he and a friend decided to locate the property lines and based on his reliance on the survey done by Cox and Dinkins located the boundary line rebar and upon locating the bar he placed a black hose and this was located at the end of the boundary line based on the survey/plat of Cox and Dinkins and this was done on December 10, 2010. However, the

plaintiff did not see the hose until December 15<sup>th</sup>, 2010 the reason for calling police. This hose was planted about 20 feet inside the plaintiff's property line and in the 20 foot setback on the front portion of the plaintiff's property. See the pictures taken in front of police officer.

In direct contradiction of Hooker's sworn testimony and his Admissions; Officer Creech in his report memorialized that the *disputed property was an easement* running to CWS service<sup>10</sup> (Attachment Police Report of Officer Creech). In fact Hooker did in fact cross the boundary line, dug up the plaintiff's property and did place a black hose onto the property as testified to by the Officer prior to his dismissal by the Court. (The Court asked the plaintiff if she was done with the witness she said yes and learned the next day of trial the court had dismissed her witnesses from the remainder of the trial and denied plaintiff's request to have them recalled "after taking the request under advisement." (R. pp. 314, 340-342-46) (Exhibit 4 R. p. 670)

**APPELLANT'S WITNESS OFFICER CREECH** (R. pp. 299-308, pp. 309 L. 18-23, 346)

The officer was reluctant and hostile towards the Appellant he apparently resented being called as a witness by the Appellant – but he admitted that contrary to Hooker's testimony they were on the Appellant's property for a period of time after she went inside on December 16<sup>th</sup>, 2010, talking and only left after she asked for a report which he admitted 'he told her he would not do but may add to the one from the previous day.' He also stated "GLENDA COURAM stated the property was hers because she lived their longer" a true statement because the plaintiff purchased the land in April 1994, the easement run with Appellant's is part of her deed and survey and she had taken care of the property as outlined in the Restrictive Covenant for Phase IV, the property lines were established in 1986, 1991, 1993 and 1994 and the easement or "disputed" property has continued to run with her land, acquiesced to by the Wrenwood

---

<sup>10</sup> which was attached and running with the plaintiff's property an easement that was by law only between the Plaintiff, August Kohn and CWS).

Association and the park and by 2006 she had owned the “disputed” land and or easement for over ten years which reverted back to her in 1991 when CWS moved from the area. And Lexington County Water took over as she testified to in court.

**APPELLANT’S WITNESS DRAFT** (R. pp. 320-338, 315, 340-3, 360-7

Plaintiff’s second witness, Draft of Draft Surveying did two plats of the plaintiff’s<sup>11</sup> Property neither of those Plats show a ½ rebar located on or about 20 feet inside the plaintiff’s boundary line (in the setback area of the front). Neither does the referenced plats of Cox and Dinkins and Rawls. After his resistance, like the Officer, to answering her questions and speaking only on the issues of the defendants relating to negligence which was not a cause of action and their calculations the plaintiff asked Draft straight out if there was a ½ rebar located on her plat he respond “No, this is not your plat” – the plat was the one he did for Steve Hendricks Builders in 1993 of the plaintiff’s property; (Plaintiff’s Exhibit 1 – R. p. 648). Plaintiff went and produced her plat with her name on it and asked the question again at which point Draft reluctantly testified that there was no old ½ rebar within the 15/20 feet of the plaintiff’s property as depicted by survey/plat, filed and certified in or about September 2004 in ROD office by the Respondents. This final admission was also in harmony with his Admissions and direct contrast with the Respondents Cox and Dinkins Admission were they claim that the ½ rebar was planted by Draft. (R. p. 195)

The testimony of Draft which supported the Respondents was looked for by the court after Plaintiff’s objections and attributed to the Respondent Cox and Dinkins and Rawls. Plaintiff objected and was told not to argue with the Reporter or the Court; even though it was the court reporter that showed her the dates that proved her statements to the court. Draft

---

<sup>11</sup> One for the Appellant and one for Hendricks

testified in support of both the Appellant and Respondent the controversy was according to the rules of court should have been in the favor of the Appellant not the Respondents.

The adjacent homeowner, the plaintiff was not part of Phase V, she had no contractual relationship, nor a third party relationship with either of the Respondents or the "Neighbors" and they did conspire, slander her title, invade her privacy, was a nuisance, and caused emotional and mental distress, etc., as the evidence proved.

### LEGAL STANDARD

The general rule in South Carolina is that where a subject is beyond the common knowledge of the jury, expert testimony is required. See *Green v. Lilliewood*, 272 S.C. 186, 192-93, 249 S.E.2d 910, 913 (1978)

Conversely, where a lay person can comprehend and determine an issue without the assistance of an expert, **expert testimony is not required**. See *O'Leary-Payne v. R.R. Hilton Head, II, Inc.*, 371 S.C. 340, 349, 638 S.E.2d 96, 101 (Ct. App. 2006) ("[E]xpert testimony is not necessary to prove negligence or causation so long as lay persons possess the knowledge and skill to determine the matter at issue;" (quoting F. Patrick Hubbard & Robert L. Felix, *The Law of South Carolina Torts* 167 (2d ed. 1997))). Deciding what is within the knowledge of a lay jury and what requires expert testimony depends on the particular facts of the case, including the complexity and technical nature of the evidence to be presented and the trial judge's understanding of a lay person's knowledge. See *Sharpe v. S.C. Dep't of Mental Health*, 292 S.C. 11, 14, 354 S.E.2d 778, 780 (Ct. App. 1987) ("The application of the common knowledge exception to the requirement of expert testimony in proving negligence depends on the particular facts of a case."). "The admission or exclusion of evidence is a matter addressed to the sound discretion of the trial court and its ruling will not be disturbed in the absence of a manifest abuse

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