THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

APPEAL FROM LEXINGTON COUNTY  
*Court of Common Pleas*

SEP 30 2014

*R. Lawton McIntosh, Circuit Court Judge*

SC Court of Appeals

---

**Case No. 2011-CP-32-01010**  
**Tracking No. 2013-002056**

---

Glenda R. Couram,

*Appellant,*

v.

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

## ARGUMENT

After the presentation of Appellant's case-in-chief, The Honorable R. Lawton McIntosh, Circuit Court Judge, granted directed verdicts in favor of Respondent Cox and Dinkins, Inc. ("Respondent Cox & Dinkins") and Respondent Donald Rawls ("Respondent Rawls") (collectively "Respondents Cox & Dinkins & Rawls") and dismissed with prejudice Appellant's causes of action against them for (1) invasion of privacy, (2) continuing nuisance, (3) intentional infliction of emotional distress, (4) slander of title, (5) continuing civil and criminal trespass, and (6) civil conspiracy. (R. pp. 432-46; p. 461, line 11-p. 462, line 20) Judge McIntosh held that Appellant had failed to present to the jury any evidence in support of the causes of action. (*See id.*) Furthermore, Judge McIntosh determined, in the alternative, that, had Appellant presented even a scintilla of evidence in support of the cause of action for trespass, the claim "would be barred by [the] statute of limitations because it occurred in 2004." (R. p. 445, line 5-p. 446, line 8)

This Court should affirm the circuit court's grants of directed verdict in favor of Respondents Cox & Dinkins & Rawls on the grounds that the record demonstrates that Appellant failed to introduce any admissible evidence to support the existence of numerous essential elements of the various causes of action asserted against Respondents Cox & Dinkins & Rawls. (*See* p. 298, line 13-p. 432, line 4) This Court should also affirm the circuit court for the additional reasons discussed in this brief, including Judge McIntosh's determination that any cause of action for trespass asserted by Appellant against Respondents Cox & Dinkins & Rawls is barred by the statute of limitations.

During the presentation of Appellant's case-in-chief, Judge McIntosh also excluded certain opinion testimony proffered by Appellant on the grounds that Appellant had not proffered herself as an expert in nor established her expertise in the interpretation of certain aspects of documents prepared by professional land surveyors. (R. p. 361, line 21-p. 362, line 12; p. 364, line 1-p. 367, line 9) Judge McIntosh also denied Appellant's request to recall two witnesses after their examination had been concluded by all parties and the witnesses had been released by consent of the parties. (R. p. 340, line 5-p. 343, line 6, p. 431, lines 9-15)

As the record demonstrates that Judge Lawton did not abuse the discretion afforded a trial judge, this Court should also affirm these evidentiary rulings.

**I. BECAUSE APPELLANT FAILED TIMELY TO ALLEGE AN INVASION OF PRIVACY CAUSE OF ACTION AGAINST RESPONDENTS COX & DINKINS AND RAWLS AND FAILED TO PRESENT TO THE JURY ANY EVIDENCE IN SUPPORT OF THE CAUSE OF ACTION, THE CIRCUIT COURT PROPERLY GRANTED A DIRECTED VERDICT IN FAVOR OF THESE RESPONDENTS.**

"To state a cause of action for invasion of privacy the plaintiff must allege either: (1) the unwarranted appropriation or exploitation of his personality; or (2) the publicizing of his private affairs with which the public has no legitimate concern; or (3) the wrongful intrusion into one's private activities in such a manner as to outrage or cause mental suffering, shame, or humiliation to a person of ordinary sensibilities." *Wright v. Sparrow*, 298 S.C. 469, 471, 381 S.E.2d 503, 505 (Ct. App. 1989) (citing *Corder v. Champion Road Machinery Inter. Corp.*, 283 S.C. 520, 525, 324 S.E.2d 79, 82 (Ct. App. 1984); *Rycroft v. Gaddy*, 281 S.C. 119, 123, 314 S.E.2d 39, 42 (Ct. App. 1984)).

“Wrongful appropriation of personality involves the intentional, unconsented use of the plaintiff’s name, likeness, or identity by the defendant for his own benefit.” *Snakenberg v. Hartford Cas. Ins. Co., Inc.*, 299 S.C. 164, 170, 383 S.E.2d 2, 5-6 (Ct. App. 1989). “Wrongful publicizing of private affairs involves a public disclosure of private facts about the plaintiff.” *Id.* at 170, 383 S.E.2d at 6. “The defendant must intentionally disclose facts in which there is no legitimate public interest—there is no right of privacy in public matters.” *Id.* “Additionally, the disclosure must be such as would be highly offensive and likely to cause serious mental injury to a person of ordinary sensibilities.” *Id.* Wrongful intrusion into private affairs requires a plaintiff to plead and prove (1) an intrusion, (2) into something that one normally expects will be free from exposure to the defendant, (3) that is substantial and unreasonable enough to be legally cognizable, (4) done willingly so that the actor either (a) desires the result of his conduct or (b) knows or ought to know the result will follow from his conduct. *Id.* at 171-72, 383 S.E.2d at 6 (citing *Meetze v. Associated Press*, 230 S.C. 330, 337-38, 95 S.E.2d 606, 610 (1956); *Rycroft*, 281 S.C. at 123, 314 S.E.2d at 42; *Bazley v. Tortorich*, 397 So.2d 475, 481 (La. 1981); *Kelley v. Post Publishing Company*, 327 Mass. 275, 278, 98 N.E.2d 286, 287 (1951)).

After the presentation of Appellant’s case-in-chief, The Honorable R. Lawton McIntosh directed a verdict in favor of Respondent Cox & Dinkins and Respondent Rawls as to Appellant’s invasion of privacy cause of action<sup>10</sup> after determining that

---

<sup>10</sup> Appellant did not assert an invasion of privacy cause of action against Respondent Cox & Dinkins or Respondent Rawls nor move the circuit court at anytime to amend the pleadings to assert such a cause of action against Respondent Cox & Dinkins or Respondent Rawls. (*Compare* R. pp. 65-86, 87-107 and R. p. 223, line 1-p. 432, line 4, with S.C. R. CIV. P. 15(a), (b)) Although Appellant informed Judge McIntosh on the day of trial that she was asserting all six causes of action against Respondents Cox & Dinkins & Rawls, (R. p. 233, lines 12-14), Appellant did not seek leave of the circuit court to amend the pleadings or obtain the written consent of the adverse parties. (*See* R. p. 223, line 1-p. 432, line 4) Furthermore, Appellant did

“there’s been absolutely zero testimony about invasion of privacy by any defendant in this matter.” (R. p. 432, line 19-p. 433, line 12)

As the record reflects, Appellant presented no evidence that either Respondent Cox & Dinkins or Respondent Rawls (1) appropriated or exploited Appellant’s name, likeness, or personality, (2) publicized Appellant’s private affairs with which the public has no legitimate concern, (3) or intruded into Appellant’s private activities in such a manner as to outrage or cause mental suffering, shame, or humiliation. (*See* R. p. 298, line 13-p. 432, line 4) In fact, the only evidence presented during Appellant’s case-in-chief regarding interactions between Appellant and Respondent Cox & Dinkins or Respondent Rawls concerned a meeting that Appellant had requested with Respondent Rawls, (R. p. 407, line 25-p. 410, line 7; *see also* R. pp. 182-86)), at which Respondent Rawls had been courteous, (R. p. 410, lines 1-3), and several telephone conversations with Respondent Rawls to set up that meeting, (R. p. 407, line 25-p. 408, line 5). Appellant never had any other conversations with any representative of Respondent Cox & Dinkins. (R. p. 410, lines 4-7)

The only other evidence presented during Appellant’s case-in-chief concerning Respondent Cox & Dinkins addressed Respondent Cox & Dinkins’ performance of a survey of property owned by Respondent Fair and the issuance of a plat in 2004. (*See* R. p. 298, line 13-p. 432, line 4) Appellant testified that she has no personal knowledge of any surveying work completed by either Respondent Rawls or Respondent Cox & Dinkins in 2004. (R. p. 405, line 16-p. 406, line 17) Furthermore, Appellant testified that

---

not present any evidence to support an invasion of privacy cause of action against Respondent Cox & Dinkins or Respondent Rawls. (*See* R. p. 298, line 13-p. 432, line 4)

she never saw either Respondent Rawls or any representative of Respondent Cox & Dinkins on her property. (R. p. 405, line 16-p. 405, line 17, p. 407, lines 7-9)

As there is no evidence in the record that either Respondent Cox & Dinkins or Respondent Rawls publicized any private information about Appellant, intruded into any of Appellant's private affairs, or employed Appellant's likeness for their own benefit, this Court should affirm the circuit court's grants of directed verdict in favor of Respondent Cox & Dinkins and Respondent Rawls with regard to Appellant's invasion of privacy cause of action.

**II. BECAUSE APPELLANT FAILED TIMELY TO ALLEGE A CONTINUING NUISANCE CAUSE OF ACTION AGAINST RESPONDENTS COX & DINKINS AND RAWLS AND FAILED TO PRESENT TO THE JURY ANY EVIDENCE IN SUPPORT OF THE CAUSE OF ACTION, THE CIRCUIT COURT PROPERLY GRANTED A DIRECTED VERDICT IN FAVOR OF THESE RESPONDENTS.**

An action for private nuisance arises from "the invasion of a private right, namely, the interference with the reasonable enjoyment of [one's] property and the depreciation in its value." *Bowlin v. George*, 239 S.C. 429, 435, 123 S.E.2d 528, 531 (1962). "Generally, a private nuisance is that class of wrongs that arises from the unreasonable, unwarrantable, or unlawful use by a person of his own property, personal or real." *O'Cain v. O'Cain*, 322 S.C. 551, 561, 473 S.E.2d 460, 466 (Ct. App. 1996) (citing *Clark v. Greenville County*, 313 S.C. 205, 437 S.E.2d 117 (1993)). "A continuing nuisance is defined as a nuisance that is intermittent or periodical and is described as one which occurs so often that it is said to be continuing although it is not necessarily constant or unceasing." *Silvester v. Spring Valley Country*, 344 S.C. 280, 287, 543 S.E.2d 563, 566 (Ct. App. 2001) (citing 58 AM. JUR. 2D *Nuisances* § 28 (1989)).

“In resolving issues relating to a private nuisance, [courts] must deal with the conflicting interests of land owners. . . . [that is] the right of one generally to make such lawful use of his property as he may desire and the right of the other to be protected in the reasonable enjoyment of his property.” *O’Cain*, 322 S.C. at 560, 473 S.E.2d at 465 (citing *DeBorde v. St. Michael and All Angels Episcopal Church*, 272 S.C. 490, 505-06, 252 S.E.2d 876, 883-84 (1979); *Winget v. Winn–Dixie Stores, Inc.*, 242 S.C. 152, 159, 130 S.E.2d 363, 366 (1963)). Accordingly, “one who has no control over property at the time of the alleged nuisance cannot be held liable therefor.” *Clark*, 313 S.C. at 210, 437 S.E.2d at 119 (citing *Peden v. Furman University*, 155 S.C. 1, 1, 151 S.E. 907, 912 (1930)).

In *Clark v. Greenville County*, 313 S.C. 205, 437 S.E.2d 117 (1993), the South Carolina Supreme Court affirmed a trial court’s grant of summary judgment as to a nuisance cause of action where the plaintiffs had neither alleged nor produced any evidence that the defendants had control over the land allegedly giving rise to the nuisance or over the alleged nuisance once it had been deposited on the land. *Id.* The *Clark* plaintiffs filed, inter alia, an action for nuisance against, inter alia, companies that had deposited hazardous waste in a landfill years earlier and sought to recover damages for alleged contamination of their property. *Id.* at 206-7, 437 S.E.2d at 118. After concurring that the plaintiffs had produced no evidence that the companies had any control over the landfill or over the hazardous waste once it had been deposited, the *Clark* Court agreed that, as a matter of law, the companies could not be liable under a nuisance theory because they had no control over the property or mechanism of the nuisance. *Id.* at 210, 437 S.E.2d at 119.

After the presentation of Appellant's case-in-chief, The Honorable R. Lawton McIntosh directed a verdict in favor of Respondent Cox & Dinkins and Respondent Rawls as to Appellant's nuisance cause of action,<sup>11</sup> (R. p. 434, line 20-p. 437, line 9), because "the plaintiff admits that she didn't see Cox & Dinkins do anything and her contentions are based on her lack of understanding of what [the Cox & Dinkins Plat] actually is showing." (R. p. 437, lines 3-9)

Like the plaintiffs in *Clark*, Appellant did not allege nor produce any evidence that Respondent Cox & Dinkins or Respondent Rawls had any control over any real or personal property that interfered with the use or enjoyment of her property. (See R. p. 298, line 13-p. 432, line 4) Appellant also failed to introduce any evidence that Respondent Cox & Dinkins or Respondent Rawls engaged in any intermittent or periodic conduct that could constitute a continuing interference with Appellant's use and enjoyment of her property. (*Id.*)

Appellant, instead, testified to having no personal knowledge of any surveying work completed by either Respondent Cox & Dinkins or Respondent Rawls in 2004. (R. p. 405, line 16-p. 406, line 17) Appellant also testified that she never saw Respondent Rawls or any representative of Respondent Cox & Dinkins on her property. (R. p. 405, line 16-p. 406, line 17, p. 407, lines 7-9) Appellant further testified that she did not see

---

<sup>11</sup> Appellant did not assert a continuing nuisance cause of action against Respondent Cox & Dinkins or Respondent Rawls nor move the circuit court at anytime to amend the pleadings to assert such a cause of action against Respondent Cox & Dinkins or Respondent Rawls. (Compare R. pp. 65-86, 87-107 and R. p. 223, line 1-p. 432, line 4 with S.C. R. Civ. P. 15(a), (b)) Although Appellant informed Judge McIntosh on the day of trial that she was asserting all six causes of action against Respondents Cox & Dinkins & Rawls, (R. p. 233, lines 12-14), Appellant did not seek leave of the circuit court to amend the pleadings or obtain the written consent of the adverse parties. (See R. p. 223, line 1-p. 432, line 4) Furthermore, Appellant did not present any evidence to support a continuing nuisance cause of action against Respondent Cox & Dinkins or Respondent Rawls. (See R. p. 298, line 13-p. 432, line 4)

any representative of Respondent Cox & Dinkins place a pin or any other object on her property. (R. p. 407, lines 3-6).

In fact, in response to Respondent Cox & Dinkins and Respondent Rawls' motion for directed verdict, Appellant admitted: "I don't know if they destroyed the property, I haven't seen." (R. p. 435, lines 9-22) Appellant also conceded at trial that she had not witnessed either Respondent Cox & Dinkins or Respondent Rawls damage any flora on her property. (R. p. 412, lines 12-16)

As there is no allegation or evidence in the record that either Respondent Cox & Dinkins or Respondent Rawls had any control over any real or personal property that interfered with the use or enjoyment of Appellant's property, this Court should affirm the circuit court's grants of directed verdict in favor of Respondent Cox & Dinkins and Respondent Rawls with regard to Appellant's nuisance cause of action. This Court should also affirm the circuit court because Appellant failed to present any evidence that Respondent Cox & Dinkins or Respondent Rawls engaged in any intermittent or periodic conduct that could constitute a continuing interference with Appellant's use and enjoyment of her property and because Appellant failed to demonstrate that she suffered any damage because of any conduct of Respondent Cox & Dinkins or Respondent Rawls.

**III. BECAUSE APPELLANT FAILED TO PRESENT TO THE JURY ANY EVIDENCE IN SUPPORT OF THE INTENTIONAL INFLICTION OF EMOTIONAL DISTRESS CAUSE OF ACTION AGAINST RESPONDENTS COX & DINKINS AND RAWLS, THE CIRCUIT COURT PROPERLY GRANTED DIRECTED VERDICT IN FAVOR OF THESE RESPONDENTS.**

The tort of intentional infliction of emotional distress, also known as the tort of outrage, arises when "[o]ne who by extreme and outrageous conduct intentionally or recklessly causes severe emotional distress to another[.]" *Ford v. Hutson*, 276 S.C. 157,

162, 276 S.E.2d 776, 778 (1981) (quoting RESTATEMENT (SECOND) OF TORTS § 46 (1965)). The South Carolina Supreme Court has further held as follows:

“Specifically, in order to recover for the intentional infliction of emotional distress, a plaintiff must establish that (1) the defendant intentionally or recklessly inflicted severe emotional distress or was certain or substantially certain that such distress would result from his conduct, [citations omitted]; (2) the conduct was so ‘extreme and outrageous’ as to exceed ‘all possible bounds of decency’ and must be regarded as ‘atrocious, and utterly intolerable in a civilized community,’ [citations omitted]; (3) the actions of the defendant caused the plaintiff’s emotional distress, [citations omitted]; and (4) the emotional distress suffered by the plaintiff was ‘severe’ so that ‘no reasonable man could be expected to endure it.”

*Id.* at 162, 276 S.E.2d at 778-79 (quoting *Vicnir v. Ford Motor Co.*, 401 A.2d 148, 154 (Me. 1979).

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